IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-M-00809-SCT

COPIAH COUNTY

APPELLANT/DEFENDANT

V.

NANCY OLIVER

APPELLEE/PLAINTIFF

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Copiah County, Mississippi
Civil Action No. 2007-0629

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

(ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED)

REBECCA B. COWAN (MSB# [REDACTED])
JOSEPH W. GILL (MSB# [REDACTED])
Currie Johnson Griffin Gaines & Myers, P.A.
1044 River Oaks Drive
Post Office Box 750
Jackson, Mississippi 39205-0750
Telephone: (601) 969-1010
Facsimile: (601) 969-5120

Attorneys for Appellant, Copiah County,
Mississippi

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-M-00809-SCT

COPIAH COUNTY

APPELLANT/DEFENDANT

V.

NANCY OLIVER

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

- I. Whether the Circuit Court of Copiah County, Mississippi, erred in denying the Motion for Summary Judgment filed by Appellant, Copiah County, Mississippi, in which Appellant argued that Appellee, Nancy Oliver, is judicially estopped from pursuing her cause of action against Copiah County, which allegedly arose during the pendency of her Chapter 13 bankruptcy case, because she failed to comply with certain provisions of the United States Bankruptcy Code by amending her schedule of assets to disclose her asserted cause of action.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 26, 2007, Appellee, Nancy Oliver (“Oliver”), filed her Complaint against Appellant, Copiah County, Mississippi (“Copiah County”), alleging that she was injured on March 27, 2006, as a result of Copiah County’s negligence. (CP. 6-8; RE. 1-3). At the time she filed her Complaint, Oliver’s Chapter 13 bankruptcy case was pending. (CP. 13, 17-20; RE. 4, 8-11). However, Oliver never amended her bankruptcy schedule of assets to reflect any potential cause of action she had against Copiah County. (CP. 14; RE. 5).

On July 11, 2008, Copiah County filed its Motion for Summary Judgment on grounds that Oliver was barred from asserting her cause of action against Copiah County under the doctrine of judicial estoppel because she never amended her bankruptcy schedule of assets in her pending Chapter 13 bankruptcy case to reflect her potential cause of action against Copiah County. (CP. 13-16; RE. 4-7). Copiah County asserted that “[w]here a debtor has failed to disclose a potential cause of action as an asset in her bankruptcy schedules, she is barred from subsequently pursuing that cause of action under the doctrine of judicial estoppel.” (CP. 14; RE. 5). Oliver filed no written response to Copiah County’s Motion for Summary Judgment.

On March 30, 2009, the Circuit Court of Copiah County heard a Copiah County’s Motion for Summary Judgment. (T. 3-17). During the hearing, counsel for Oliver did not deny that Oliver had failed to amend her bankruptcy schedule of assets to reflect her potential cause of action against Copiah County. (T. 8-9). Rather, Oliver’s counsel argued that Oliver is not required to amend her bankruptcy schedule until her lawsuit against Copiah County is concluded either by judgment or settlement. (T. 9). At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court denied Copiah County’s Motion for Summary Judgment, and on April 15, 2009, the trial court entered an Order to this effect. (T. 17; CP. 29; RE. 12). That order was filed on April 30, 2009. (CP. 29; RE. 12). Copiah County

subsequently filed its Petition for Interlocutory Appeal and for Stay of Trial Court Proceedings, which this Court granted. (CP. 30, 54).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Complaint Nancy Oliver filed against Copiah County on July 26, 2007, alleges that she was injured as a result of Copiah County's alleged negligence on March 27, 2006, when she tripped and fell on a piece of loose carpeting on the steps of the Copiah County Courthouse. (CP. 6-8; RE. 1-3). Previously, on October 15, 2005 (prior to the commencement of this action and Oliver's date of injury), Oliver filed a voluntary petition for a Chapter 7 bankruptcy in the United States Bankruptcy Court in the Southern District of Mississippi. (CP. 13; RE. 4). Upon a motion filed by Oliver, the case was converted to a Chapter 13 bankruptcy case on December 15, 2005. (CP. 13; RE. 4). On February 15, 2006, the bankruptcy court entered an Order confirming Oliver's Chapter 13 Plan ("the Plan") for a period of "36 months or until paid, not to exceed 60 months." (CP. 13, 17-20; RE. 4, 8-11).

When Oliver filed her Complaint in the present matter, her bankruptcy case had not been closed, dismissed or converted to another type of bankruptcy case. (CP. 13; RE. 4). Oliver never amended her bankruptcy schedule of assets to reflect any potential cause of action against Copiah County.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

As a Chapter 13 debtor, Oliver had a continuing duty to disclose her assets, including her cause of action against Copiah County, in her bankruptcy schedules until her bankruptcy case was closed. Because Oliver never amended her bankruptcy schedule of assets to include her cause of action against Copiah County during the pendency of her bankruptcy case, she effectively made a representation to the bankruptcy court that the cause of action did not exist. Oliver's pursuit of her claim against Copiah County in the Circuit Court of Copiah County is inconsistent with this representation to the bankruptcy court. Under the doctrine of judicial estoppel, parties are prevented from taking inconsistent positions in litigation. Judicial estoppel "is particularly appropriate where . . . a party fails to disclose an asset to a bankruptcy court, but then pursues a claim in a separate tribunal based on that undisclosed asset." *Jethroe v. Omnova Solutions, Inc.*, 412 F.3d 598, 600 (5th Cir. 2005). Therefore, the trial court abused its discretion in failing to apply the doctrine of judicial estoppel to Oliver's claims against Copiah County, and refusing to grant Copiah County's motion for summary judgment based on judicial estoppel.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court's decision regarding whether to apply the doctrine of judicial estoppel "is subject to review under an abuse of discretion standard." *Kirk v. Pope*, 973 So. 2d 981, 986 (Miss. 2007) (citing *In re Superior Crewboats, Inc.*, 374 F.3d 330, 334 (5th Cir. 2004)). "[B]y definition," a trial court "abuses its discretion when it makes an error of law." *Superior Crewboats*, 374 F.3d at 334 (quoting *In re Coastal Plains, Inc.*, 179 F.3d 197, 205 (5th Cir. 1999)).

ARGUMENT

Oliver is judicially estopped from pursuing her cause of action against Copiah County because she failed to amend her Chapter 13 bankruptcy schedule of assets to disclose her asserted cause of action against Copiah County.

A bankruptcy debtor has a duty, under penalty of perjury, to file a schedule of her assets as part of the bankruptcy proceedings. 11 U.S.C. § 521(a)(1)(B)(i); *Marrama v. Citizens Bank of Mass.*, 549 U.S. 365, 378 (2007) (citing 28 U.S.C. § 1746; FED. RULE BKRTCY. PROC. 1008). A potential cause of action held by a bankruptcy debtor is an asset of the bankruptcy estate, and, therefore, must be disclosed in the debtor's schedule of assets. *See In re Breauxsaus*, 304 B.R. 273 (N.D. Miss. 2003).

In a Chapter 13 bankruptcy case, the debtor's duty to disclose assets is a continuing one. *See* 11 U.S.C. §1306(a)(1) (property of the estate in a Chapter 13 bankruptcy includes property acquired "after the commencement of the case but before the case is closed, dismissed, or converted to a case under chapter 7, 11, or 12 of this title, whichever occurs first"). As a result, Oliver had a continuing duty to disclose her assets and was "required to amend [her] financial statements if circumstances change." *Casey v. Peco Foods, Inc.*, 297 B.R. 73, 76 (S.D. Miss. 2003). The doctrine of judicial estoppel bars a bankruptcy debtor from subsequently pursuing a cause of action where the debtor has failed to disclose the potential cause of action as an asset in her bankruptcy schedules. *See Griffin v. Dollar General Corp.*, No. 4:05CV11, 2006 WL 1982749, at *1 (N.D. Miss. July 13, 2006). The doctrine of judicial estoppel prevents a party from taking inconsistent positions in litigation, "[t]he purpose of which is to protect the integrity of the judicial process by preventing parties from playing fast and loose with the courts to suit the exigencies of self-interest." *In Re Coastal Plains, Inc.*, 179 F. 3d at 205. The Fifth Circuit has held that "[j]udicial estoppel is particularly appropriate where . . . a party fails to disclose an asset to a bankruptcy court, but then pursues a claim in a separate

tribunal based on that undisclosed asset.” *Jethroe*, 412 F.3d at 600.

Griffin v. Dollar General Corp., 2006 WL 1982749, is directly on point. In *Griffin*, the relevant facts were as follows:

Plaintiff filed her **Chapter 13** bankruptcy petition in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Mississippi on **February 20, 2001**. She filed a Charge of Discrimination against Defendant Dollar General Corporation (“Dollar General”) with the EEOC on **August 8, 2004**. She initiated the instant lawsuit against Dollar General on **January 13, 2005**. The final order closing plaintiff’s bankruptcy case was issued on **July 11, 2005**. **During the pendency of the chapter 13 proceedings, plaintiff did not inform the bankruptcy court of her EEOC claim or the instant discrimination suit.**

Id. at *1 (emphasis added). The district court adopted the Report and Recommendation of Magistrate Judge Eugene Bogen, which stated as follows:

Judicial estoppel is particularly appropriate where a party fails to disclose an asset to a bankruptcy court, but then pursues a claim in a separate tribunal based on the undisclosed asset. *Jethro v. Omnova Solutions, Inc.*, 412 F.3d 598, 600 (5th Cir.2005). “A plaintiff is judicially estopped from pursuing an EEOC charge filed while ... [her] ... bankruptcy petition was pending and where ... [she] ... did not fulfill ... [her] ... duty to amend the petition to include that claim.” *Id.* (citation omitted). The obligation to disclose pending and unliquidated claims in bankruptcy proceedings is an ongoing one. *Id.* Thus, a bankruptcy petitioner is under a duty to disclose potential legal claims throughout the pendency of her bankruptcy petition. *See id.*

Id. (emphasis added). As such, the district court in *Griffin* held Griffin was “judicially estopped from pursuing the instant lawsuit.” *Id.*

Griffin’s cause of action against Dollar General Corporation accrued after she filed her Chapter 13 bankruptcy petition. *See id.* While the court did not specifically state that Griffin’s cause of action arose after her bankruptcy plan was confirmed, this is the only reasonable assumption that can be made since her cause of action arose over three years after she filed her Chapter 13 petition. *See id.* Likewise, Oliver’s alleged cause of action against Copiah County arose after her bankruptcy case had been converted to a Chapter 13 case and after her plan was confirmed (albeit, Oliver’s

alleged cause of action against Copiah County arose approximately three months as opposed to Griffin's, which arose three years after her Chapter 13 petition was filed). The court in *Griffin* held that Griffin was judicially estopped from bringing her action against Dollar General because she did not disclose the "pending and unliquidated claims in bankruptcy proceedings." *See id.* Likewise, Oliver should be judicially estopped from bringing her action against Copiah County because she refused to disclose the "pending and unliquidated claim in [her] bankruptcy proceedings." *See id.*

Courts employ the following factors in determining whether the doctrine of judicial estoppel should be applied under circumstances like Oliver's: "(1) the party is judicially estopped only if its position is clearly inconsistent with the previous one; (2) the court must have accepted the previous position; and (3) the non-disclosure must not have been inadvertent." *Kirk*, 973 So. 2d at 991 (Miss. 2007) (quoting *In re Superior Crewboats*, 374 F.3d 330, 335 (5th Cir 2004)). *See also Jethroe*, 412 F.3d at 600. Under the first two factors of *Kirk's* judicial estoppel test, *i.e.*, that the position of the party be plainly inconsistent with its prior legal position, and that the party sought to convince a court to accept her prior position, the court in *Diamond Z Trailer, Inc. v. JZ L.L.C.* held that "[t]he debtor need only have gained some advantage through the court's acceptance of the initial position, such as plan confirmation or grant of discharge" by failing to disclose an asset. Nos. ID-07-1011-KMoR, 01-03545-TLM, 2007 WL 1954035, at *6 (9th Cir. BAP June 18, 2007). *See also Kirk*, 973 So. 2d at 991 (holding that first prong was met by plaintiff's failure to list lawsuit in bankruptcy schedules as such "represented that no such suit existed and [was] inconsistent with his subsequent pursuit of the claim," and that the second prong was met because the bankruptcy trustee and court necessarily relied upon the plaintiff's schedules in granting discharge).

With regard to the third factor of the judicial estoppel test, *i.e.*, whether the party acted inadvertently, the Fifth Circuit in *In re Coastal Plains, Inc.*, held that a finding of inadvertence

requires that the debtor must lack knowledge of the claim or have no motive to conceal it. 179 F.3d at 210. *See also Kirk*, 973 So. 2d at 991. “[J]udicial estoppel does not necessarily require ‘bad faith’ or deceptive intent; the inadvertence of the nondisclosure prong is satisfied when a debtor unreasonably disregards her express, affirmative disclosure duties.” *Guerra v. Lehman Commercial Paper, Inc.*, No. H-06-1444, 2007 WL 419517, at *7 (S.D. Tex. Feb. 5, 2007) (citing *In re Coastal Plains*, 179 F.3d at 210-213).

A. Oliver’s position in this case is clearly inconsistent with the position she took in her bankruptcy case.

In the present case, once Oliver became aware of her cause of action, she was duty-bound to file an amended schedule of assets in her bankruptcy case. *See, e.g., Casey*, 297 B.R. at 76. Oliver’s failure to amend her schedule of assets once she became aware of her potential cause of action is the specific act that requires the application of judicial estoppel in this case. When Oliver failed to amend her schedule of assets to disclose her potential cause of action against Copiah County, she took the position in her bankruptcy case that no such cause of action existed. *See In re Superior Crewboats*, 374 F.2d at 335 (“[O]mission of [a] personal injury claim from [plaintiffs’] mandatory bankruptcy filings is tantamount to a representation that no such claim existed.”). This position is “clearly inconsistent” with her position in her suit against Copiah County. *See Kirk*, 973 So. 2d 991.

B. The bankruptcy court accepted Oliver’s previous position.

With regard to the second factor of the judicial estoppel test, Oliver has “convinced [the bankruptcy] court to accept the prior position,” as her Chapter 13 Plan rests, in part, on the premise that Oliver did not have any additional assets, such as a potential cause of action against Copiah County, that belonged to the bankruptcy estate. By deliberately concealing her cause of action against Copiah County from her creditors, Oliver denied these creditors the right to seek a

modification of her Chapter 13 Plan. *See In re Harvey*, 356 B.R. 557, 563-64 (S.D. Ga. 2006).

C. Oliver's failure to disclose her potential cause of action was not inadvertent.

The final factor of the judicial estoppel analysis is met in this case because Oliver never amended her schedule of assets to disclose her cause of action against Copleah County. Oliver became aware of the potential cause of action on March 27, 2006, the date she alleges that she tripped and fell at the Copleah County Courthouse. Oliver's continuing failure to disclose this asset while reaping the benefit of the bankruptcy court's approval of her Chapter 13 Plan without the information necessary for potential post-confirmation modification – even after filing her Complaint in the present matter – sufficiently demonstrates that her refusal to disclose her cause of action against Copleah County is anything but inadvertent. *See, e.g., Guerra*, 2007 WL 419517, at *7; *Kirk*, 973 So. 2d at 991. Furthermore, despite having received notice from Copleah County, *via* the filing of its Motion for Summary Judgment, Oliver has still failed to disclose the present cause of action in her bankruptcy proceeding and refused to amend her schedule of assets.

CONCLUSION

Oliver should not be allowed to “play[] fast and loose with the courts” by pursuing a cause of action in one court and denying its existence in another. *See In Re Coastal Plains, Inc.*, 179 F. 3d at 205. By denying Copleah County's Motion for Summary Judgment, the trial court has allowed Oliver to pursue a cause of action that belongs to her bankruptcy estate while, all along, representing to the bankruptcy court that no such cause of action exists. The trial court allowed Oliver to take two judicially conflicting and incompatible positions in two different courts, thus allowing her figuratively to have her cake and eat it, too. The trial court abused its discretion in refusing to apply the doctrine of judicial estoppel to dismiss Oliver's claims against Copleah County on summary judgment. Therefore, Copleah County respectfully requests that this Court reverse the trial court's

Order and render judgment in Copiah County's favor.