### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

## NO. 2009-M-00809-SCT

COPIAH COUNTY

APPELLANT

VS.

NANCY OLIVER

APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Copiah County, Mississippi Civil Action No. 2007-0629

## BRIEF OF APPELLEE

(Oral Argument Not Requested)

CURT CROWLEY (MB#
THE CROWLEY LAW FIRM, PLLC
POST OFFICE BOX 4673
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39296-0673
PHONE: 601.944.1984
FAX: 601.510.9513
curt@thecrowleylawfirm.com

Attorney for the Appellant, Nancy Oliver

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

#### NO. 2009-M-00809-SCT

COPIAH COUNTY

APPELLANT

VS.

NANCY OLIVER

APPELLEE

### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

# III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The trial court did not err in denying the Defendant's motion for summary judgment due to judicial estoppel as (a) the personal injury claim at issue is not an asset of the Chapter 13 estate; and (b) the Defendant failed to demonstrate a genuine issue of material fact as to the Plaintiff's intent to conceal the personal injury claim from the Bankruptcy Court.

## IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 15, 2005, the Plaintiff filed a Voluntary Petition pursuant to Chapter 7 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. This case was commenced in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Mississippi. The bankruptcy action is styled In Re: Nancy Jean Roberts; No. 05-07095-ee.

Upon the motion of the Plaintiff, the Chapter 7 case was converted to a Chapter 13 on December 15, 2005. The Plaintiff filed her Chapter 13 plan with the Court on December 20, 2005. The Court entered an Order confirming the plan on February 14, 2006.

On March 27, 2006, the Plaintiff tripped and fell at the Copiah County Courthouse. The Plaintiff suffered significant injuries as a result of the incident. The cause of the incident was the failure of Copiah County to correct a known, unreasonably dangerous condition on its business premises.

On July 26, 2007, the Plaintiff filed a Complaint against Copiah County in the Circuit Court of Copiah County, Mississippi, wherein she alleged that the Defendant was negligent, and that she suffered injuries as a result of said negligence.

On September 7, 2009, the Defendant served its First Interrogatories and Request for Production of Documents upon the Plaintiff. In response to the interrogatories, the Plaintiff disclosed the fact that she had commenced the Chapter 13 bankruptcy proceeding.

On June 10, 2008, the Defendant took the Plaintiff's deposition in this matter. The Plaintiff again disclosed the existence of the bankruptcy during her deposition testimony.

The Defendant subsequently filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, wherein it alleged that the Plaintiff was estopped from pursuing her claim against Copiah County because she never amended her bankruptcy schedules to reflect the existence of this postpetition, post-confirmation claim. By Order entered April 30, 2009, the trial court denied the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment.

The Defendant subsequently filed a Petition for Interlocutory Appeal, which was granted by this Court.

## V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Plaintiff's post-petition, post-confirmation personal injury claim is not an asset of the bankruptcy estate which requires disclosure and amendment of her bankruptcy schedules.

In a Chapter 13 bankruptcy case, tort claims which accrue after the Chapter 13 Plan is confirmed are not property of the bankruptcy estate unless the claims are "necessary to maintain the Plan." See In Re Foreman, 378 B.R. 717, 720 (S.D.Ga. 2007). If the funds from said claims are not necessary to maintain the Plan, the claims are not property of the bankruptcy estate, and the Plaintiff is not required to amend the bankruptcy schedules to disclose the claims. Id.

The Defendant failed to demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the Plaintiff's personal injury claim was necessary to maintain the Plan. As such, the trial court did not err in denying the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment.

In the alternative, the application of judicial estoppel, an equitable remedy, would be grossly inequitable in this case, considering the lack of intent to deceive, and potential adverse effect upon the Plaintiff. Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it declined to apply the doctrine of judicial estoppel to the Plaintiff's claims.

### VI. ARGUMENT

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial court's decision whether to apply the doctrine of judicial estoppel is subject to review pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard. <u>Kirk v. Pope</u>, 973 So.2d 981, 986 (Miss. 2007).

- B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT DUE TO JUDICIAL ESTOPPEL AS (A) THE PERSONAL INJURY CLAIM AT ISSUE IS NOT AN ASSET OF THE CHAPTER 13 ESTATE; AND (B) THE DEFENDANT FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE AN ABSENCE OF GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT AS TO THE PLAINTIFF'S INTENT TO CONCEAL THE PERSONAL INJURY CLAIM FROM THE BANKRUPTCY COURT.
  - 1. The Plaintiff's Claims Are Not Barred By Judicial Estoppel, As The Post-Petition, Post-Confirmation Personal Injury Claim Was Not An Asset Of The Bankruptcy Estate, And No Amendment Of Schedules Was Required

In a Chapter 13 bankruptcy case, tort claims which accrue for the benefit of the debtor after the petition is filed, and after the Chapter 13 Plan is confirmed, are not assets of the estate which must be disclosed through an amendment to the debtor's schedules, unless the claim is necessary to maintain the Plan.

It appears that neither this Court, nor the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit, have addressed this issue in a post-confirmation Chapter 13 case. However, the Eleventh and Third Circuits, as well as U.S. Bankruptcy Courts in Georgia, have considered this issue on multiple occasions.

In a Chapter 13 case, disclosure of assets which are acquired

after the Plan is confirmed is required only if the claim is "property of the estate under the Bankruptcy Code." In Re Foreman, 378 B.R. 717, 720 (S.D.Ga. 2007). Tort claims which arise after a Chapter 13 Plan is confirmed "are not property of the bankruptcy estate unless they are necessary to maintain the plan." Id. at 721 (emphasis added). If not necessary to maintain the Plan, the Debtor is not required to amend the schedules to reflect the existence of post-confirmation tort claims. Id. at 720.

In <u>Foreman</u>, the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Georgia discussed the precise issue presented in this appeal. In <u>Foreman</u>, the Debtor and her husband jointly commenced a Chapter 13 case. <u>Id</u>. at 719. The Debtors' Chapter 13 Plan was subsequently confirmed by the Court. <u>Id</u>. The Plan was apparently to be funded by the wages of the Debtors. <u>Id</u>.

Approximately five (5) months after the Plan was confirmed, the Debtor's husband was fatally injured in an explosion. <u>Id</u>. The Debtor then asserted tort claims against various persons she claimed were responsible for the explosion. <u>Id</u>. After asserting these claims, the Debtor filed a Motion to Amend Schedules, in order to disclose the existence of the post-petition, post-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>See also Telfair v. First Union Mortgage Corporation, 216 F.3d 1333 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2000) (In Chapter 13 cases, assets acquired post-confirmation are property of the estate only if the assets are necessary to fund the Chapter 13 Plan). The Seventh Circuit has taken the same position as to assets which are acquired post-confirmation. See Matter of Heath, 115 F.3d 521 (3<sup>rd</sup> Cir. 1997).

confirmation claims arising as a result of the explosion. Id.

The Bankruptcy Court held that because the Debtor's tort claims accrued post-confirmation, and were not shown to be necessary to maintain the Plan, the claims were not property of the bankruptcy estate. <u>Id</u>. at 727. As such, the Debtor had no duty to disclose the claims. <u>Id</u>. For these reasons, the Court denied the Debtor's Motion to Amend Schedules as "unnecessary." <u>Id</u>.<sup>2</sup>

In the case at bar, it is undisputed that the Plaintiff's claims against the Defendant arose after her Chapter 13 Plan had been confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court. Because the claim arose post-confirmation, the claim was property of the bankruptcy estate only if the claim was necessary to fund or maintain the Chapter 13 Plan.

The Defendant wholly failed to prove that the Plaintiff's claim was an asset of the bankruptcy estate, which would necessitate the application of judicial estoppel. In fact, the Defendant made absolutely no effort whatsoever to prove that the claim was necessary to fund the Plan, so as to cause the claim to be an asset of the bankruptcy estate, for which disclosure is required. There was a complete failure of proof on these issues. Accordingly, the Defendant failed to demonstrate that no genuine

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>See also In Re Carter, 258 B.R. 526 (S.D.Ga. 2001) (amendment of schedules to reflect tort claim which arose post-confirmation is not required, as the claim was not necessary to maintain or fund the plan). "The debtors had no reason much less obligation to disclose [the claims]." <u>Carter</u>, 258 B.R. at 258.

issue of material fact existed as to whether the claim was an asset of the estate, and likewise failed to demonstrate that it was entitled to judgment as a matter of law. For these reasons, the trial court did not err in denying the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment.

Even if the Defendant had made an effort to prove the claim was necessary to fund the Plan and was, consequently, an asset of the estate, such an effort would have failed. The Plaintiff's claim was clearly not necessary to fund the Plan. The Plan was funded entirely by the Plaintiff's wages. The Plaintiff paid all sums due pursuant to the Plan. The Plan was fully funded without resorting to proceeds from the personal injury claims, and the Chapter 13 Trustee filed a Notice of Completion of Plan Payments.

The fact that the Plaintiff made all necessary payments and completed her Plan using only her wages, without resort to the subject personal injury claim, is conclusive proof that the personal injury claim was not necessary to maintain and/or fund the Plan. This fact is not disputed by Copiah County, and is, in fact, indisputable.

For these reasons, the claim was not an asset of the bankruptcy estate, and the Plaintiff had no duty to amend her schedules to disclose the existence of the claim. The Defendant has wholly failed to demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of material fact as to these issues, and has further failed to prove

that it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

- 2. Alternatively, Even If The Claim Were Property Of The Bankruptcy Estate, The Application Of The Equitable Doctrine Of Judicial Estoppel Is Improper And Grossly Inequitable.
- a. The lack of authority within this jurisdiction makes application of judicial estoppel inequitable and inappropriate.

The Plaintiff maintains her position that the claim was not property of the bankruptcy estate, and consequently no amendment of her schedules was required. However, even if the claim were deemed to be property of the bankruptcy estate, the application of the equitable doctrine of judicial estoppel would be inappropriate and inequitable.

The doctrine of judicial estoppel is designed to prevent a party from taking inconsistent positions in litigation, "[t]he purpose of which is to protect the integrity of the judicial process by preventing parties from playing fast and loose with the courts to suit the exigencies of self-interest." In Re Coastal Plains, Inc., 179 F.3d 197, 205 (5th Cir. 1999). The clear purpose of judicial estoppel is to prevent a party from "gaming" the courts to obtain an ill-gotten tactical advantage. Id.

As stated previously, neither the Mississippi Supreme Court, nor the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit has ever determined whether, in a Chapter 13 case, a tort claim which accrues post-confirmation is property of the bankruptcy estate which must be disclosed. There is, quite frankly, no clear law

within this jurisdiction that would require the Plaintiff to amend her bankruptcy schedules to reflect this post-confirmation claim. Moreover, the overwhelming majority of authority from outside this jurisdiction leads to the conclusion that the claim is not property of the bankruptcy estate.

The Third Circuit, Eleventh Circuit, and U.S. Bankruptcy Courts within Georgia have consistently held that post-confirmation claims identical to the Plaintiff's claims are not property of the estate. The fact that the Plaintiff did not file a motion to amend her schedules is entirely consistent, and in compliance with, the overwhelming majority of applicable authority. In the absence of authority within the Fifth Circuit, the Plaintiff's compliance with the law, as held by the Third and Eleventh Circuits, clearly indicates a lack of fraudulent intent on the part of the Plaintiff.

The Plaintiff has cited authority from the Third and Eleventh Circuits which supports her position in this case. In opposition to the Third and Eleventh Circuits, the Defendant literally scrapes the bottom of the barrel and bases its entire argument on a single, obscure, non-published opinion from a U.S. Magistrate Judge, from which no appeal was taken to the Fifth Circuit.<sup>3</sup> The overwhelming

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Of the cases cited by the Defendant, only <u>Griffin v. Dollar General Corp.</u>, 2006 WL 1982749, concerns claims which arose post-confirmation in Chapter 13 cases. The remaining cases cited by the Defendant involve claims which accrued in either (1) Chapter 7 cases; or (2) pre-confirmation or pre-petition Chapter 13 cases. Different rules apply in those proceedings than in post-confirmation Chapter 13 cases. Accordingly, none of those cases

majority of authority supports the proposition that the Plaintiff acted properly in this case. The Defendant has failed to explain exactly how the Plaintiff's compliance with the law as dictated by the Third and Eleventh Circuits could in any way be deemed as "gaming" the system to gain an advantage.

The fact is that the Plaintiff's actions were consistent with multiple federal appellate courts. This fact alone indicates that the Plaintiff's actions were not wrongful or fraudulent, and should not give rise to the application of judicial estoppel. Even if this Court were to reject the position of the Third and Eleventh Circuits, and adopt the position of the unpublished magistrate judge opinion, the Plaintiff's failure to comply with that authority does not support a finding of fraudulent intent on the part of the Plaintiff.

For these reasons, the application of judicial estoppel to bar the Plaintiff's claims is inequitable.

b. The Plaintiff's Actions In The Litigation Of This Case Show No Fraudulent Or Wrongful Conduct.

At every point in the litigation of this case, the Plaintiff has demonstrated full disclosure and honesty relating to her bankruptcy. Throughout the litigation of this case, the Plaintiff made no effort to conceal the existence of her bankruptcy case. To the contrary, she honestly, freely and openly disclosed the fact of

are applicable to the case at bar.

her bankruptcy.

As stated previously, the Plaintiff disclosed the fact that she had commenced the Chapter 13 bankruptcy proceeding in response to the Defendant's interrogatories. Furthermore, the Plaintiff again disclosed the existence of the bankruptcy when she was deposed by the Defendant. The Plaintiff's repeated disclosure and discussion of her bankruptcy proceeding belies any allegation that the Plaintiff intentionally concealed this claim or the fact that she had filed a bankruptcy proceeding. The application of judicial estoppel is simply inappropriate in this case.

## VII. CONCLUSION

Copiah County should not be allowed to "play[] fast and loose with the courts" by engaging in a cynical game of "GOTCHA" to escape responsibility for its wrongful and irresponsible conduct.

Copiah County has completely failed to prove that the claim in this case is property of the bankruptcy estate. Copiah County made no effort to prove that the claim was necessary to fulfill or maintain the Chapter 13 Plan. Copiah County failed to establish the absence of a genuine issue of material fact, as to this issue, and likewise failed to demonstrate that it was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

Finally, the evidence in this case demonstrates that the Plaintiff made no attempt to "play fast and loose with the courts," as her conduct was fully supported by authority from the Third and Eleventh Circuits. In the absence of authority from this jurisdiction, the Plaintiff was justified in relying upon these authorities. Further, the evidence indicates that the Plaintiff made no effort to conceal the claim or the fact of the bankruptcy proceeding. These facts make the application of judicial estoppel inapplicable in this case.

For these reasons, the trial court's denial of the Defendant's motion for summary judgment should be affirmed.